IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WILLIS OF ARIZONA, INC.; and WILLIS TOWERS WATSON INSURANCE SERVICES WEST, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

HAKKASAN USA, INC.,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No.: 82829

(consolidated with Case No. 82833)

Electronically Filed

District Court Case Neighborn Sep 03 2021 03:34 p.m.

Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, State of Nevada, County of Clark The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, District Judge

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Patrick J. Reilly, Esq. (Nevada Bar No. 6103)
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600
Las Vegas, NV 89106-4614
Tel: 702.382.2101 / Fax: 702.382.8135

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRS 38.247(1)(a) because this is an appeal of an order denying a motion to compel arbitration. This appeal is timely in accordance with NRAP 4(a)(1) because notice of entry of the order appealed from was entered on April 14, 2021, and a notice of appeal was filed within 30 days, on April 23, 2021.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by this Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9) because the lower court matter is a business court case.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the lower court err, as a matter of law, by concluding that Plaintiff/Appellee Hakkasan USA, Inc.'s ("Hakkasan") claims against Defendants/Appellants Willis of Arizona, Inc. and Willis Towers Watson Insurance Services West, Inc. (collectively, "Willis") were not governed by the dispute resolution provision in Willis's "Brokerage Terms, Conditions & Disclosures" (the "T&Cs"), which provides for the arbitration of disputes between the parties if the T&Cs' jury-waiver clause is unenforceable?¹

1

¹ Willis previously filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus (the "Petition") with this Court on April 23, 2021, requesting that the Court issue a writ of mandamus

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal and Docket No. 82833 arise out of the same order in the same lower court case interpreting the same dispute resolution provision. Willis is an independent insurance broker. It is not an insurance company. It assists clients like Hakkasan with purchasing insurance from various third-party insurance companies. In the underlying action, Hakkasan alleges it "contracted with Willis to provide [insurance] brokerage and claims-handling services" and that Willis engaged in conduct that was, among other things, "in breach of contract" by allegedly notifying Hakkasan's insurer, prematurely, of an impending COVID-19-related insurance claim. Hakkasan further asserts that Willis's alleged unauthorized communication with the insurer about Hakkasan's insurance claim allowed the insurer to issue an endorsement to Hakkasan's property insurance policy for the purpose of reducing the limits of insurance for Hakkasan's claim from the full policy limits of \$350,000,000 per occurrence to a sublimit of \$1,500,000. Hakkasan has demanded

directing the lower court to strike Hakkasan's demand for jury trial in accordance with the same dispute resolution provision in the T&Cs that is at issue in this appeal. See Docket No. 82833. While Willis maintains, as set forth in detail in the Petition, that Hakkasan's jury demand should be stricken pursuant to the T&Cs, it filed this appeal in accordance with NRS 38.247(1)(a) because the T&Cs mandate that any disputes between the parties be settled through arbitration if the jury-waiver provision is not enforceable. By Order dated May 28, 2021, this Court consolidated this appeal, Docket No. 82829, with the case in which Willis filed its Petition, Docket No. 82833, noted that an answer to the Petition "may assist this court in resolving the petition," directed Willis to file an opening brief in this case, and set a schedule for Hakkasan to respond by filing a "combined answering brief in Docket No. 82829 and, on behalf of respondents, an answer, including authorities, against issuance of the requested writ in Docket No. 82833."

a jury trial in the lower court action.

The claims asserted by Hakkasan against Willis are governed by Willis's "Brokerage Terms, Conditions & Disclosures" (the "T&Cs"), which set forth the terms governing Willis's relationship with Hakkasan. The T&Cs were provided to Hakkasan in connection with a document entitled "Insurance Proposal Prepared for Hakkasan USA, Inc." (the "Proposal"), which was prepared by Willis for purposes of assisting Hakkasan with its insurance renewals for the 2019-20 policy year. The T&Cs are referenced in the Proposal's Table of Contents and the Proposal expressly provides that "This proposal is presented in conjunction with the [T&Cs] for US Property & Casualty Retail Accounts which is enclosed." The introductory sentence of the T&Cs, just below the document's heading, states that "Your decision to purchase insurance coverages, products, and/or services through Willis Towers Watson is subject to the following terms and conditions."

The T&Cs contain a mandatory "Dispute Resolution" provision that provides:

The parties agree to work in good faith to resolve any disputes arising out of or in connection with the services provided under these Terms, Conditions & Disclosures. If a dispute cannot be resolved it will be submitted to non-binding mediation to be conducted by Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (JAMS) before either party pursues other remedies hereunder. If the mediation does not resolve the dispute and a party or both parties wish to pursue other remedies, the parties agree that their legal dispute will be resolved without a jury trial and agree not to request or demand a jury trial. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the parties hereby

irrevocably waive any right they may have to demand a jury trial.

(Emphasis added.)

The Dispute Resolution provision in the T&Cs further provides:

To the extent the foregoing jury trial waiver is not enforceable under the governing law, . . . any dispute arising out of or in connection with [the T&Cs] which the parties are unable to resolve between themselves or through mediation as provided above, will be resolved by binding arbitration in the state . . . , or other mutually agreed location, before a panel of three arbitrators in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Under these circumstances, the arbitration proceeding will be the sole and exclusive means for resolving any dispute between the parties[.]

(Emphasis added.) Given the foregoing contract language, and as is explained in detail in Willis's previously-filed (and pending) Petition for a Writ of Mandamus (see Docket No. 82833), Hakkasan is not entitled to a jury trial. Instead, its claims should be heard through a bench trial. However, assuming *arguendo* that the jury trial waiver was somehow deemed not enforceable by this Court, Willis is entitled to have Hakkasan's claims heard in arbitration in Nevada. Either way, Hakkasan agreed it would forego a jury trial under all circumstances.

Hakkasan filed an Amended Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial on September 28, 2020, which alleges, among other things, that Willis is liable for civil conspiracy, constructive fraud, negligence, and intentional interference with

contractual relations as a result of Willis's purported unauthorized communications with the insurer about Hakkasan's COVID-19-related insurance claim. On February 11, 2021, Willis filed its Motion To Strike Plaintiff's Jury Demand As To Its Claims Against The Willis Defendants Or, In The Alternative, To Compel Arbitration (the "Motion to Strike"). After briefing was completed, the lower court did not hold a hearing and entered a minute order, without oral argument, denying the Motion to Strike, stating that "[i]ssues related to the proposal are distinct with those which remain at issue in this matter." Subsequently, the lower court executed an Order denying the Motion to Strike and holding that "Hakkasan's present claims against Willis for civil conspiracy, constructive fraud, negligence, and intentional interference with contractual relations are outside the scope of the Dispute Resolution clause in Section 1.13 of the T&Cs." For the same reason, the lower court refused to compel arbitration between Hakkasan and Willis. The lower court's determination that Hakkasan's claim arose outside the scope of the Dispute Resolution directly contradicts a prior order by the court that enforced the very same Dispute Resolution provision by ordering Willis and Hakkasan to mediation before litigation could proceed. The case is currently in the discovery phase.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background Of Hakkasan's Relationship With Willis And The Procurement Of Hakkasan's 2019-20 Property Insurance Policy

Hakkasan is associated with the Hakkasan Group, a worldwide hospitality

company that operates a collection of restaurant, nightlife, and daylife brands, including seven high-end establishments located in Las Vegas, Nevada, where Hakkasan is based. Appellants' Appendix² – Volume I ("VI") at 4, ¶ 1, 10, ¶¶ 40-41.³ For the past several years, Hakkasan "contracted with Willis to provide [insurance] brokerage and claims-handling services in relation to [Hakkasan's 2019-20 commercial property insurance policy], among numerous other insurance policies procured by Willis for Hakkasan[.]" VI at 12, ¶ 54. *See also* VI at 4, ¶ 4 (Hakkasan engaged Willis "in respect to negotiating the terms of the Policy, preparing insurance proposals for the Policy and other competing options, procuring the Policy, and facilitating and advising about claims under the Policy"). Willis is not an insurance company. It is an independent insurance broker. Willis helps clients like Hakkasan find insurance from various third-party insurance companies.

Willis began communicating with Hakkasan about its 2019-20 insurance renewals no later than early January 2019 for the policy period that was set to expire as of April 1, 2019. By way of limited example:

• On January 2, 2019, Willis sent Hakkasan's General Counsel, Brandon Roos, and its Risk Manager, Veronica Stiles, an email asking them to "take a look at this initial overview on coverages, loss scenarios, pricing, etc."

² Appellants' Appendix was filed with this Court on April 30, 2021, in Case No. 82833

³ Willis recites herein the allegations set forth in Hakkasan's Amended Complaint solely for the purposes of this brief. Nothing herein is intended to be, nor should be construed as, an admission as to the veracity of any of Hakkasan's allegations in the Amended Complaint.

and they then had a meeting two days later on January 4, 2019 (Appellants' Appendix – Volume II ("VII") at 242, ¶ 3, 247-51);

- On January 14, 2019, Willis sent Hakkasan various coverage recommendations for the upcoming policy year and Attorney Roos responded: "This is a great start and really appreciate all of the work that went into this project from the Willis team and Veronica!" (VII at 243, ¶ 4, 252-56);
- Chuck Halsey, an Executive Vice President with Willis, met with Attorney Roos and Ms. Stiles for breakfast on January 30, 2019 (VII at 243, ¶ 5, 257-58);
- On January 31, 2019, Attorney Roos and Ms. Stiles attended an in-person meeting with a team of five Willis employees for an "April 1, 2019 Renewal Strategy Meeting" (VII at 243, ¶ 6, 259-60);
- On February 1, 2019, Willis sent Hakkasan information on its "year over year premiums" (VII at 243, ¶ 7, 261-63);
- On March 6, 2019, Willis sent Hakkasan a document entitled "Hakkasan Insurance Renewals 4/1/19 Overview" and Mr. Halsey again met with the Hakkasan team that day (VII at 243, ¶ 8, 264-67);
- Immediately following Mr. Halsey's March 6, 2019 meeting with Hakkasan, he reported back to the Willis team that Hakkasan had decided to move its property insurance policy from Travelers Property Casualty Co. of America ("Travelers") to Sompo International Holdings, Ltd. for the April 1, 2019 renewal (VII at 243, ¶ 9, 268-69).

After months of extensive planning, Willis and Hakkasan held an in-person meeting on March 29, 2019 to finalize Hakkasan's 2019-20 insurance renewals.⁴ VII

7

⁴ Such meetings are often held shortly before the date existing policies are set to expire because, by the nature of the insurance industry, final decisions about insurance typically need to be made quickly—insurers' quotes are usually only valid for short periods of time because they are dependent upon changing facts and market conditions. VII at 244, ¶ 11.

at 243, ¶ 10. During that meeting, Willis provided Hakkasan's representatives, including Attorney Roos, with a document entitled "Insurance Proposal Prepared for Hakkasan USA, Inc." (the "Proposal"). *See* VI at 73, ¶ 2; VII at 243, ¶ 10; *see also* VI at 75-138. A copy of the Proposal was also emailed to Hakkasan on March 29, 2019 after the meeting concluded. VII at 243, ¶ 10. Among other things, the Proposal reflected Hakkasan's options with regard to the decision it needed to make as to whether to renew its property coverage with Travelers or bind the property coverage with Sompo International ("Sompo"). VI at 91-98.

In addition to the details concerning Hakkasan's coverage options, the Proposal included Willis's "Brokerage Terms, Conditions & Disclosures" (the "T&Cs"), which were attached thereto as "Appendix A" and set forth the terms governing Willis's relationship with Hakkasan. VI at 76, 130-38. The T&Cs are referenced in the Proposal's Table of Contents and the Proposal expressly provides that "This proposal is presented in conjunction with the Brokerage Terms, Conditions & Disclosures for US Property & Casualty Retail Accounts which is

_

⁵ Hakkasan's Amended Complaint refers to defendant Sompo International Holdings, Ltd. ("SIH") as its insurer, however, the lower court entered an order on July 13, 2021 granting SIH's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and instructing Hakkasan to file an amended complaint within thirty (30) days omitting any claims against SIH. SIH and defendant Endurance American Specialty Insurance Company ("Endurance") argued that "Sompo International" is merely a trade name that is utilized by Endurance, which is a U.S. subsidiary of SIH, a Bermuda holding company that does not write insurance or adjust claims in Nevada or any other state. Because the parties' communications and the Amended Complaint refer to the insurer, Endurance, by the trade name "Sompo," Willis refers to the insurer as "Sompo" herein.

enclosed." VI at 86. The introductory sentence of the T&Cs, just below the document's heading, states that "Your decision to purchase insurance coverages, products, and/or services through Willis Towers Watson is subject to the following terms and conditions." VI at 130 (emphasis added).

The T&Cs contain, among other things, a mandatory "Dispute Resolution" provision that, in part, provides:

The parties agree to work in good faith to resolve <u>any</u> <u>disputes arising out of or in connection with the services provided under these Terms, Conditions & Disclosures.</u> If a dispute cannot be resolved it will be submitted to non-binding mediation to be conducted by Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (JAMS) before either party pursues other remedies hereunder. If the mediation does not resolve the dispute and a party or both parties wish to pursue other remedies, <u>the parties agree that their legal dispute will be resolved without a jury trial and agree not to request or demand a jury trial</u>. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, <u>the parties hereby irrevocably waive any right they may have to demand a jury trial</u>.

VI at 132, § 1.13 (emphasis added). The Dispute Resolution provision further provides that:

To the extent the foregoing jury trial waiver is not enforceable under the governing law, . . . any dispute arising out of or in connection with [the T&Cs] which the parties are unable to resolve between themselves or through mediation as provided above, will be resolved by binding arbitration in the state . . . , or other mutually agreed location, before a panel of three arbitrators in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Under these

circumstances, the arbitration proceeding will be the sole and exclusive means for resolving any dispute between the parties[.]

Id. (emphasis added).

The T&Cs, in conjunction with the Proposal, also address the many services provided by Willis as Hakkasan's insurance broker, including claims handling, procurement, and renewal services. Important to the issue before this Court is that with regard to claims handling, for example, Appendix B to the Proposal is a document entitled "Claims Information" that describes Willis's unique "Claims Advocacy Center," provides contact information for the Claims Center, identifies the types of claims to be reported to Willis's Claims Center (including property claims), and identifies the types of claims that should be reported directly to the insurance carrier. VI at 129. Further, page 3 of the Proposal identifies Hakkasan's "Service Team and Claim Contact Information" and provides contact information to Hakkasan for the two individuals—Christine Lawson and John Ritter—in Willis's "Risk Control & Claims Advocacy" department assigned to Hakkasan's account. VI at 77.

Several sections of the T&Cs also address Willis's claims handling and renewal services. For instance, Section 2.1 of the T&Cs, in part, states:

You must provide us with complete and accurate information regarding your loss experience, risk exposures, and changes in analysis or scope of your risk exposures and any other information reasonably

requested by us or insurers. It is important that you advise us of any changes in your business operations that may affect our services or your insurance coverages. Therefore, all information which is material to your coverage requirements or which might influence insurers in deciding to accept your business, finalizing the terms to apply and/or the cost of cover, or deciding to pay a claim, must be disclosed. Failure to make full disclosure of material facts might potentially allow insurers to avoid liability for a particular claim or to void the policy. This duty of disclosure applies equally at renewal or modification of your existing coverage and upon placement of new lines of coverage.

VI at 134 (emphasis added). Section 2.7 of the T&Cs provides that "[Willis] will inform [Hakkasan] of the reporting requirements for claims, including where claims should be reported and the method of reporting to be used, if applicable." VI at 135. Section 2.17 concerns Willis's obligations upon termination of the parties' agreement and, in part, provides: "Claims and premium or other adjustments may arise after our relationship ends, and we have no responsibility to handle these things after our relationship ends. Such items are normally handled by the insurance broker serving you at the time the claim or adjustment arises." VI at 136.

Ultimately, on April 3, 2019, five days after receiving the T&Cs, Hakkasan's General Counsel, Attorney Roos, executed Willis's "Order to Bind" form, which was included with the Proposal, thereby instructing Willis to bind Hakkasan's property coverage with Sompo as had been previously indicated in early March 2019. VI at 73, ¶ 3, 139-40; *see also id.* at 4, ¶ 4.

Pursuant to the Order to Bind, Hakkasan purchased a \$350,000,000 per occurrence Commercial Property Surplus Lines insurance policy from Sompo, covering the policy period of April 1, 2019 to April 1, 2020 (the "Policy"). VI at 4, ¶ 3, 8, ¶ 35. Hakkasan paid Sompo a premium of \$325,000 to obtain the Policy. VI at 8, ¶ 33. Among other things, Hakkasan's Policy insures against losses related to (1) "contagious or infectious disease (including decontamination and clean-up costs)' and/or 'outbreak of a contagious and/or infectious disease' within five miles of any insured location[,]" and (2) the "closing of the whole or part of the premises of the Insured either by the Insured or by order of a Public Authority consequent upon the existence or threat of hazardous conditions either actual or suspected to an insured locations . . . " VI at 4, \P 5. Both the quote and the binder—which were prepared by Sompo and provided to Hakkasan in connection with Hakkasan's property insurance—specifically provided that Sompo's insurance policy would contain a \$1,500,000 sublimit for virus-related claims. However, when the Policy was issued by Sompo, it did not contain the \$1,500,000 sublimit.

B. Hakkasan Notifies Willis Of COVID-19 Related Losses During Willis's Efforts To Procure Hakkasan's 2020-21 Property Insurance Policy

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the government responses thereto, Hakkasan alleges it began sustaining business income losses in February 2020 and that it "had to close its venues to the public across its entire portfolio and cancel

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