1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2 WILLIS OF ARIZONA, INC. and
3 WILLIS TOWERS WATSON
4 INSURANCE SERVICES WEST,
INC.,

5 Appellants,

6 vs.

7 HAKKASAN USA, INC.,

8 Respondent.
9

Supreme Court No. : 82829
(Consolidated with Case No. 82833)

District Court No. Electronically Filed
 A-20-816145-B
 Nov 03 2021 05:40 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

10
11 Consolidated Appeal and Petition for Writ of Mandamus from the Eighth Judicial
12 District Court of State of Nevada for the County of Clark

13 The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, District Judge

14 **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

15 QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
16 SULLIVAN, LLP

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

Willis does not dispute these critical facts. Instead, Willis inexplicably points to the fact that the Jury Waiver Clause was included in a *subsequent* version of the T&Cs that was attached to a proposal Willis presented to Hakkasan for the 2020–21 term on March 17, 2020. Pet. 18. But whether Hakkasan discussed the T&Cs with Willis at any point after March 29, 2019, and whether any subsequent version of the T&Cs included a similar clause, is irrelevant to the question of whether Hakkasan knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally assented to the Jury

¹¹ For that reason, it is doubtful that the T&Cs even bind Hakkasan. *See Zappos*, 893 F. Supp. 2d at 1066 (under Nevada law, “a party cannot assent to terms of which it has no knowledge or constructive notice”). However, the enforceability question here can be resolved on narrower grounds.

1 Waiver Clause included for the first time in the T&Cs attached to the Proposal for
2 the 2019–20 policy term. In the absence of any evidence that Hakkasan was even
3 aware of the new Jury Waiver Clause that Willis unilaterally imposed without
4 negotiation on March 29, 2019, this Court cannot conclude that Hakkasan
5 knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally waived its right to a jury trial. *See Zi*
6 *Beauty, Inc. v. General Growth Properties*, No. A-16-744558-B, Order Denying
7 Defs.’ Mot. to Bifurcate Trial and Partially Stay Disc. and Mot. to Strike Jury
8 Demand on Order Shortening Time, at 3 (Nev. D. Ct. Mar. 15, 2018), *denying pet.*
9 *for writ of mandamus*, *GGP*, 2019 WL 1349858, at *1 (holding that a jury trial
10 waiver was unenforceable where it “was never the subject of discussion or
11 negotiation between Plaintiffs and Defendants and Plaintiff was unaware of the
12 provision until being served with the Motion to Strike Jury Demand”); *Lenoir v.*
13 *Fred’s Stores of Tenn., Inc.*, No. 1:15CV214-SA-DAS, 2016 WL 3265451, at *2
14 (N.D. Miss. June 14, 2016) (holding that jury trial waiver was unenforceable where
15 terms “were laid out unilaterally” by one party); *Dreiling v. Peugeot Motors of*
16 *Am., Inc.*, 539 F. Supp. 402, 403 (D. Colo. 1982) (holding that jury trial waiver on
17 a standardized form drafted by one party was unenforceable where there was no
18 evidence “the waiver provision was a bargained for term of the contract, was
19 mentioned during negotiations, or was even brought to the plaintiffs’ attention”).

20 *Second*, the Jury Waiver Clause in Section 1.13 of the T&Cs is
21 inconspicuous. The 55-page Proposal references the T&Cs only once briefly on
22 page 12, and *nowhere* states that by purchasing insurance through Willis,
23 Hakkasan would be waiving its right to a jury trial. P. App’x I at 86. And the
24 provision is hidden at the end of the twenty-fifth paragraph of the T&Cs (which
25 include nearly seventy paragraphs of text) and is not underlined, highlighted,
26 boldfaced, italicized, capitalized, or emphasized in any way. *Id.* at 133. Rather,
27 the clause is camouflaged in a thicket of 9-point, single-spaced text. *Id.* Further,
28

1 the heading of Section 1.13, simply titled “Dispute Resolution,” provides no hint
2 that the T&Cs contain a jury trial waiver inserted for the first time in the parties’
3 long-standing relationship. *Id.* at 132.

4 The T&Cs are thus a paradigmatic example of a form that submerges a jury
5 trial waiver clause in a sea of fine print. The clause here bears no resemblance to
6 conspicuous waiver clauses that Nevada courts have enforced in other cases, where
7 the clauses were bolded, in upper case letters, prefaced by a heading clearly
8 identifying the waiver,¹² or in some cases located directly above a signature line.
9 *See Club Vista Fin. Servs., L.L.C. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 128 Nev. 889, 2012 WL
10 642746, at *2 (2012) (unpublished disposition) (holding that a jury waiver clause
11 in “bold and uppercase letters, directly above the signature line, located in a
12 concise agreement, and titled ““WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL”” was sufficiently
13 conspicuous to be enforceable); *Casey v. Third Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 281 P.3d 1160, 2009
14 WL 3188939, at *2 (Nev. 2009) (unpublished disposition) (finding that a jury
15 waiver clause that was “properly titled as such, . . . not buried in the . . .
16 Agreement, and . . . bolded and the same size as the font found in the rest of the
17 document” was conspicuous); *Malan*, 953 S.W.2d at 627 (finding that a jury
18 waiver clause that was “not buried in the [agreement] [and] was prominently
19 displayed as the only and last paragraph on the last page immediately above the
20 signature lines” was conspicuous); *Mall*, 412 So. 2d at 1199 (finding that a jury
21 waiver clause clearly labeled “Waiver of Trial by Jury: Tenant Not To
22 Counterclaim” was conspicuous); *Fuoroli v. Westgate Planet Hollywood Las*
23 *Vegas, LLC*, No. 2:10-CV-2191 JCM GWF, 2014 WL 131668, at *4 (D. Nev. Jan.

26 ¹² The simple heading “Dispute Resolution” does not indicate that a contract
27 includes a jury waiver clause, and Willis cites no authority to the contrary.
28

1 14, 2014) (holding that jury waiver clause clearly titled “Waiver of Jury” on a two-
2 page document was sufficiently conspicuous).

3 Because the Jury Waiver Clause here lacks any of these characteristics, it is
4 not readily noticeable and could easily be overlooked. *Cf. Fuoroli*, 2014 WL
5 131668, at *4. That is insufficient to deprive Hakkasan of its constitutional right.
6 *See Zi Beauty*, No. a-16-744558-B, at 3 (holding that an un-highlighted jury waiver
7 clause at the end of a non-descript paragraph was unenforceable); *Nat’l Equip.*
8 *Rental, Ltd. v. Hendrix*, 565 F.2d 255, 258 (2d Cir. 1977) (holding that a jury
9 waiver provision “literally buried in the eleventh paragraph of a fine print, sixteen
10 clause agreement” was unenforceable); *Dreiling*, 539 F. Supp. at 403 (“A
11 constitutional guarantee so fundamental as the right to jury trial cannot be waived
12 unknowingly by mere insertion of a waiver provision on the twentieth page of a
13 twenty-two page standardized form contract.”).

14 *Third*, by waiting to present the Proposal to Hakkasan until just one business
15 day before Hakkasan’s existing insurance policies were due to expire—despite
16 Hakkasan’s explicit instruction that Willis *not* present voluminous proposal
17 documents on the eve of the renewal deadline—Willis left Hakkasan no choice but
18 to bind coverage (even if it had been aware of the T&Cs). P. App’x II at 165.
19 Willis argues that this context should be ignored because Hakkasan is a large
20 commercial enterprise of equal stature to Willis, an established insurance broker.
21 Pet. at 31–32. But there can be real disparities in bargaining power even between
22 sophisticated parties. *See, e.g., Shell Oil Co. v. Marinello*, 63 N.J. 402, 408–09
23 (1973) (finding disparity in bargaining power between commercial parties where
24 one party could “for all practical purposes . . . dictate its own terms” and the other
25 party had “everything to lose” if it rejected the dominant party’s terms).

26 Here, Willis waited until the eve of Hakkasan’s policy renewal deadline to
27 present the Proposal to Hakkasan, while unilaterally imposing *new terms and*
28

1 *conditions on Hakkasan*, including the Jury Waiver Clause. P. App’x II at 165.
2 Rejecting Willis’s Proposal would have resulted in a lapse of Hakkasan’s coverage
3 of over \$350 million in property coverage and \$75 million in general liability
4 coverage. *Id.* No reasonable business would have entertained such a major lapse
5 of coverage, even for a short period of time, and Willis exploited Hakkasan’s
6 diminished leverage by imposing a long list of one-sided terms and conditions at
7 the eleventh hour of the renewal process, knowing that Hakkasan would be
8 compelled to accept them, likely without reviewing them closely or at all given
9 the insufficient amount of time to do so. Making this Hobson’s Choice was not a
10 knowing, voluntary, and intentional relinquishment of Hakkasan’s right to a jury
11 trial. *See Nat’l Equip. Rental*, 565 F.2d at 258 (jury waiver unenforceable against
12 a party who “did not have any choice but to accept the . . . contract as written if he
13 was to get badly needed funds”); *Lenoir*, 2016 WL 3265451, at *2 (jury waiver
14 unenforceable against a party who “was left with the unsavory decision of either
15 agreeing to the employer’s terms post hoc or facing possible termination”);
16 *Dreiling*, 539 F. Supp. at 403 (jury waiver unenforceable where there was no
17 evidence “plaintiffs had any choice other than to accept the contract as written”).

18 *Fourth*, because Willis had presented the Proposal so close to the April 1,
19 2019 renewal deadline, Hakkasan’s counsel, Brandon Roos, did not have an
20 adequate opportunity to review the T&Cs. P. App’x II at 165–66. As a
21 consequence of the urgency that Willis created, Mr. Roos was compelled to
22 quickly assess and select Hakkasan’s insurance coverages on the same day Willis
23 presented the Proposal, and in the course of doing so, he was directed by Willis to
24 review only a small subset of the materials in the Proposal. *Id.* at 165–66. During
25 the March 29 meeting, Willis presented Mr. Roos with Hakkasan’s potential
26 coverage options, but Willis never once referred to the T&Cs or suggested that Mr.
27 Roos review them, despite the fact that the T&Cs included a jury trial waiver
28

1 clause that had never been part of any prior version of the T&Cs. *Id.* at 165–66.
2 Unlike other cases where such clauses have been enforced, this is not a case where
3 counsel specifically advised a party to waive its right to a jury trial,¹³ nor is it one
4 where counsel had ample time to “carefully review[]” a contract and request
5 revisions before it was executed. *E.g., In re Reggie Packing Co., Inc.*, 671 F.
6 Supp. 571, 574 (N.D. Ill. 1987). Because Willis never alerted Mr. Roos to the
7 inclusion of the terms, his involvement in selecting Hakkasan’s insurance
8 coverages does not indicate that Hakkasan knowingly, voluntarily, or intentionally
9 waived its right to try its claims against Willis to a jury.

10 In sum, the evidence overwhelmingly demonstrates that Hakkasan did not
11 validly waive its constitutional right to have its instant claims against Willis tried
12 to a jury. But to the extent that this Court concludes that material factual issues
13 remain in dispute, that would be an appropriate basis to remand the issue to the
14 District Court to resolve the enforceability question in the first instance.

15 **II. This Court Should Dismiss Willis’s Appeal for Lack of Jurisdiction or,**
16 **in the Alternative, Affirm**

17 **A. This Court Lacks Jurisdiction Over the Appeal in Case No. 82829**

18 This Court does not have jurisdiction to consider the appeal in Case No.
19 82829 because the District Court has not entered an appealable order under Nevada
20 Rule of Appellate Procedure 3A(b) or any other applicable rule or statute. The
21 jurisdictional statement in Willis’s opening brief cites Nevada Revised Statutes
22 38.247(1)(a), which authorizes an interlocutory appeal from an order denying a
23 motion to compel arbitration. Br. 1. That provision, however, does not confer
24

25
26 ¹³ See *Lowe*, 118 Nev. at 94 (enforcing jury waiver clause where party waived
27 right to jury trial “WITH AND UPON THE ADVICE OF COMPETENT
28 COUNSEL”).

1 appellate jurisdiction over this appeal because the District Court did not enter an
2 order denying a motion to compel arbitration.

3 The particular arguments that Willis advanced below make clear why the
4 District Court did not rule on its alternative motion to compel arbitration. Willis's
5 motion to strike Hakkasan's jury demand argued that Hakkasan's tort claims fall
6 within the Jury Waiver Clause and that the clause is enforceable under Nevada
7 law. P. App'x I at 65–68. The District Court denied the motion on the ground that
8 Hakkasan's claims fall outside the scope of the clause, but that ruling is not
9 immediately appealable, as Willis appears to acknowledge. Pet. 6. Willis also
10 anticipated that the District Court might rule that the waiver is unenforceable. P.
11 App'x I at 68. In that case, Willis argued, the District Court should compel
12 arbitration, because the T&Cs provide that “[t]o the extent the foregoing jury trial
13 waiver is not enforceable under the governing law, . . . any dispute arising out of or
14 in connection with [the T&Cs] . . . will be resolved by binding arbitration.” P.
15 App'x I at 68; *id.* at 133 § 1.13.

16 But because the District Court held that the Jury Waiver Clause does not
17 encompass Hakkasan's tort claims, it did not need to decide whether the Jury
18 Waiver Clause is unenforceable, and it made no such ruling. P. App'x II at 286.
19 For that reason, the District Court had no occasion or basis to rule on Willis's
20 request to compel arbitration—which was expressly contingent on a finding of
21 unenforceability—and thus issued no order denying arbitration. *Id.* In essence, the
22 request to compel arbitration was rendered moot by the ground on which the
23 District Court resolved Willis's motion to strike Hakkasan's jury demand.

24 Accordingly, Willis has identified no order from which this appeal may be
25 properly taken, and so this Court lacks jurisdiction over the appeal. The Court
26 should therefore dismiss the appeal.

**B. If the Court Concludes That It Has Jurisdiction Over this Appeal,
It Should Affirm Because the District Court Correctly Denied
Willis’s Motion to Strike Hakkasan’s Jury Demand**

If this Court construes the District Court’s order to have denied a motion to compel arbitration and therefore reaches the merits of the appeal, the appropriate disposition would depend on the outcome of the mandamus proceeding. First, if this Court leaves in place the District Court’s ruling that Hakkasan’s tort claims fall outside of the Jury Waiver Clause, then, like the District Court, it would have no occasion to reach the enforceability question or Willis’s request to compel arbitration. Second, if the Court concludes in the mandamus proceeding that the claims fall within the waiver *and* that the waiver is enforceable, and if the Court further concludes that it has jurisdiction to hear Willis’s appeal, then this Court should affirm the District Court’s order because there would be no basis under the contract in that circumstance to compel arbitration. Third, if the Court remands to the District Court to decide the enforceability question in the first instance, then the Court should vacate the putative denial of the motion to compel arbitration and remand this appeal for further consideration. But, if the Court determines in the mandamus proceeding *both* that the claims fall within the scope of the jury-trial waiver *and* that the waiver is unenforceable, Hakkasan does not dispute that the claims would also be within the scope of the T&Cs’ fallback arbitration clause.

As explained in Section I.A., *supra*, the scope of the Jury Waiver Clause should be construed narrowly in order to safeguard Hakkasan’s constitutional right to try its claims to a jury. *See Phoenix Leasing*, 843 F. Supp. at 1388; *Mall*, 412 So. 2d at 1200. Section 1.13’s fallback arbitration clause, which comes into play only “to the extent the foregoing jury waiver is not enforceable,” evidently is intended to encompass the same scope of disputes governed by the Jury Waiver Clause. P. App’x I at 133. Thus, for the reasons explained above, because

1 Hakkasan's claims are outside the scope of the Jury Waiver Clause, they must also
2 be outside the scope of the fallback arbitration clause.

3 In sum, even if this Court determines that it does have jurisdiction to hear
4 Willis's appeal, the order of the District Court should be affirmed based upon a
5 determination that Hakkasan's claims are outside the scope of Section 1.13 of the
6 T&Cs.

7 **CONCLUSION**

8 For the aforementioned reasons, this Court should deny the petition for a
9 writ of mandamus in Case No. 82833, and this Court should dismiss the appeal in
10 Case No. 82829 for lack of jurisdiction or, in the alternative, affirm the District
11 Court's order.

1 DATED this 3rd day of November in the year 2021.

2
3 QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
4 SULLIVAN, LLP

5
6 By /s/ James E. Whitmire
7 James E. Whitmire, Esq. (Nev. Bar No.
8 6533)
9 10100 W. Charleston Blvd. #250
Las Vegas, NV 89135

10 Danielle L. Gilmore, Esq. (*pro hac vice*)
11 Dakota S. Speas, Esq. (*pro hac vice*)
12 QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
13 SULLIVAN, LLP
14 865 South Figueroa Street, 10th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90017

15 Allison Huebert, Esq. (*pro hac vice*)
16 Athena Dalton, Esq. (*pro hac vice*)
17 QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
18 SULLIVAN, LLP
19 191 N. Wacker Drive, Suite 2700
Chicago, Illinois 60606

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